

Process Biochemistry

Process Biochemistry 41 (2006) 1001-1014

www.elsevier.com/locate/procbio

Review

# A review on microbial synthesis of hydrocarbons

N. Ladygina, E.G. Dedyukhina\*, M.B. Vainshtein

Institute of Biochemistry and Physiology of Microorganisms, Russian Academy of Sciences, Pushchino, Moscow Region, 142290 Russia

Received 28 February 2005; received in revised form 1 August 2005; accepted 6 December 2005

### Abstract

Review summarizes comparative data on the intracellular hydrocarbons of different microorganisms (cyanobacteria, aerobic and anaerobic bacteria, yeasts, and mycelial fungi). Certain systematic groups of microorganisms are characterized by specific composition of intracellular hydrocarbons, in particular, cyanobacteria are unique in their ability to produce 7- and 8-methylheptadecanes; photosynthetic bacteria are distinguished by the synthesis of cyclic hydrocarbons (pristane and phytane), whereas in fungi, long-chain hydrocarbons are predominant. The synthesis of hydrocarbons by microorganisms depends considerably on the growth conditions that provides a way for its physiological regulation. The processes for microbiological production of extracellular aliphatic and volatile non-methane hydrocarbons are exemplified. Pathways for the biosynthesis of straight chain-, branched-, volatile non-methane hydrocarbons, and isoprenoids are described. Mechanisms of the hydrocarbon synthesis appear to be different in various microorganisms. The role of hydrocarbons in microorganisms is discussed. © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved.

Keywords: Microbial hydrocarbons; Intracellular hydrocarbons; Extracellular hydrocarbons; Volatile hydrocarbons; Biosynthesis; Biofuel

#### Contents

1.	Introduction	1001			
2.	Intracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms				
3. Extracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms.					
	3.1. Long-chain hydrocarbons	1004			
	3.2. Volatile non-methane hydrocarbons	1005			
4.	4. Pathways for the hydrocarbon synthesis by microorganisms				
4.1. Biosynthesis of straight-chain hydrocarbons.					
	4.2. Biosynthesis of branched hydrocarbons				
	4.3. Biosynthesis of volatile non-methane hydrocarbons				
	4.3.1. Ethylene biosynthesis	1007			
	4.3.2. Isobutene biosynthesis.	1008			
	4.3.3. Isoprenoid biosynthesis	1008			
5.	Role of microbial hydrocarbons	1010			
6.	Conclusions.	1011			
	References	1012			

1. Introduction

Hydrocarbons are considered to be the most stable group of naturally occurring compounds and are likely to retain much of their original architecture over very long periods of time. Hydrocarbon biomarkers are used to constrain the age of the ancient bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes [1,2]. As the oldest

\* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: dedeg@rambler.ru (E.G. Dedyukhina).

<sup>1359-5113/\$ -</sup> see front matter © 2005 Elsevier Ltd. All rights reserved. doi:10.1016/j.procbio.2005.12.007

fossils are of bacterial and algal origin, some more than 3 billion years old, the first studies on the isolation of the hydrocarbon-like substances from the cells of marine bacteria and algae were carried out with the aim to elucidate the role of microorganisms in the genesis of petroleum and formation of organic substances in marine sediments.

Extensive investigations of microbial hydrocarbons were greatly enhanced by the development of new analytical techniques, in particular, gas–liquid chromatography. By the 60th years of the last century, a lot of information appeared on the intracellular hydrocarbons of the representatives of different systematic groups of microorganisms and mechanisms of the hydrocarbon biosynthesis (see reviews [3–7]). In contrast to higher organisms, microbial forms could be cultivated in reactors that allows the industrial production of hydrocarbons to be developed. In recent years, microbial synthesis of extracellular aliphatic and volatile non-methane hydrocarbons attracted considerable interest in view of the development of effective and environmentally safe methods for the biofuel production [8–10].

Bacterial methane production has been reviewed at length [11] and falls outside the scope of this paper.

#### 2. Intracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms

The first report on the production of  $C_{10}$ – $C_{25}$  aliphatic hydrocarbons by sulfate-reducing bacteria grown in the seawater-containing media supplemented with organic- or fatty acids was made in 1944 [12]. In 1952 Stone and ZoBell isolated hydrocarbon fractions from marine bacteria *Serratia marinorubrum* and *Vibrio ponticus* grown on the seawater–peptone media (0.25 and 0.03% of dry biomass, respectively) [13].

Historically, the development of gas–liquid chromatography initiated extensive studies of microbial hydrocarbons. From an experimental viewpoint, the biggest continuing problem was the exclusion of adventitious hydrocarbon contaminations that demanded the application of defined media and reagents of high purity. By using the labeled growth substrates, the hydrocarbon biosynthesis was evidenced for various groups of microorganisms including bacteria [14,15], yeasts [16–18], and fungi [3].

The comparative data on the intracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms are summarized in Table 1. The hydrocarbon content of different systematic groups of microorganisms varied over a wide range, in particular, in bacteria, intracellular hydrocarbons ranged from 0.005 to 2.69% of dry biomass. It can be stated that certain systematic and, accordingly, physiological groups of microorganisms are characterized by specific composition of intracellular hydrocarbons. For instance, a peculiar feature of aerobic photosynthetic cyanobacteria is their ability to synthesize branched C<sub>18</sub>-hydrocarbons (7- and 8methylheptadecanes) in a ratio of 1:1; the hydrocarbon fractions were dominated by  $n-C_{17}$  (68–98% of the total hydrocarbons) [19-21]. Recent studies revealed that the hydrocarbon fraction of soil cyanobacterium Microcoleus vaginatus contained more than 60 branched alkanes, mainly 6- and 7-methylheptadecanes [22]. The synthesis of the complex of mono-, di-, and trimethylheptadecanes was demonstrated in filamentous cyanobacterium *Calothrix scopulorum* [23]. It was suggested that branched alkanes with the chain lengths from 17 to 20 carbon atoms could be used as biomarkers of cyanobacterial contributions to the sedimentary organic matter [2,23].

A distinctive feature of anaerobic phototrophic bacteria of the genera *Rhodopseudomonas*, *Rhodospirillum*, *Rhodomicrobium*, and *Chlorobium* is the synthesis of isoprenoid hydrocarbons (pristane and phytane). Some representatives of these genera synthesized squalene and higher cyclic hydrocarbons up to 95% of the total hydrocarbons [20,24]. It should be mentioned that the ability of prokaryotes to synthesize squalene has been questionable for a long time.

As seen from Table 1, Gram-positive bacteria of the genus *Clostridium*, which growth is based on the fermentative process, produced intracellular hydrocarbons from C<sub>11</sub> to C<sub>35</sub> with the predominance of middle-chain *n*-alkanes (C<sub>18</sub>–C<sub>27</sub>) [20] or long-chain *n*-alkanes (C<sub>25</sub>–C<sub>35</sub>) [25]. Surprisingly, in the hydrocarbon fractions of *Clostridium tetanomorphum* and *Clostridium acidiurici*, pristane and phytane, which are typical of phototrophic bacteria *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans* provide their growth by using another metabolic mechanism based on the anaerobic sulfate respiration (sulfate reduction). Nevertheless, they also produced C<sub>11</sub>–C<sub>35</sub> hydrocarbons with the predominance of C<sub>25</sub>–C<sub>35</sub> *n*-alkanes (up to 80% of the total hydrocarbons) [10,26–28].

Quite different composition of the hydrocarbon fraction was observed in facultatively anaerobic Gram-negative bacteria of the genus *Vibrio*, in which *n*-heptadecane reached 80% [13,29]. Recently, a halotolerant bacterium *Vibrio furnissii* was isolated, which produced intracellular and extracellular hydrocarbons  $(C_{15}-C_{24})$  in sum up to 60% of dry biomass [30,31]. Since the profile of the synthesized hydrocarbons was similar to that of kerosene and light oil, authors proposed the application of this strain for the fuel production from several organic substrates including wastes.

Aerobic Gram-positive bacteria, whose hydrocarbon composition has been most thoroughly investigated, belonged to the genera *Micrococcus* and *Sarcina*. The hydrocacbons of *Sarcina lutea* were mainly monounsaturated ( $C_{23}$ – $C_{30}$ ) with a double bond located near the middle of the chain; the odd-chain lengths prevailed over the even-chain hydrocarbons; the hydrocarbon chains terminated normally or with either *iso-* or *anteiso*methyl branches [15,30–32].

A considerable body of information is available concerning hydrocarbons of the yeast cells. The synthesis of hydrocarbons by yeasts *Debaryomyces hansenii* [16], *Candida tropicalis*, *Candida guilliermondii* [18], and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* [17] was proved with the use of radiolabeled glucose or acetate as the growth substrates.

The hydrocarbon content of the yeast cells usually ranged from 0.01 to 1.6% of dry weight under aerobic growth [6,30,33] and reached 10.2% of dry biomass in anaerobically grown *Saccharomyces* [34] (Table 1). Yeasts are able to synthesize a wide range of hydrocarbons from  $C_{10}$  to  $C_{34}$ , which include not only *n*-alkanes but also unsaturated and branched components.

# Table 1 Intracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms

Microorganisms	% of dry biomass	Hydrocarbon profile	Major hydrocarbons (% of the total hydrocarbons)	References
Cyanobacteria				
N. muscorum, Anacystis nidulans, Phormidium luridum, Chloradaga fritschii	0.025-0.12	n-C <sub>15</sub> -C <sub>18</sub> ; 7- and 8-methylheptadecanes	<i>n</i> -C <sub>17</sub> (68–90)	[19–21]
Trichodesmium erythaeum, Oscillatoria williamsii,	0.05-0.12	<i>n</i> -C <sub>15</sub> -C <sub>18</sub>	<i>n</i> -C <sub>17</sub> (91–95)	[21]
Microcoleus chthonoplaseis Coccochloris elabens, Agmenellum quadruplicatum	0.05-0.12	<i>n</i> -C <sub>18</sub> ;C <sub>17:1</sub> ;C <sub>19:1</sub> ; C <sub>19:2</sub>	C <sub>19:1</sub> (85–98)	[21]
Plectonema terebrans	0.05-0.12	$n-C_{15}-C_{15}:C_{17,1}$	$n-C_{17}$ (90)	[21]
M. vaginatus	ND	n-C <sub>17</sub> ; C <sub>17:1</sub> ; 2-methylhexadecane; 6-, and 7-methylheptadecanes	C <sub>17:1</sub> ; 6- and 7- methylheptadecanes	[22]
C. scopulorum	ND	1-, 2-, and 3-methylheptadecanes	$\omega$ -4,5-methylheptadecanes	[23]
Anaerobic phototrophic bacteria				
Rhodopseudomonas spheroids Chlorobium sp.	0.006	<i>n</i> -C <sub>15</sub> -C <sub>20</sub> ; pristane; phytane	$n-C_{17}$ (43–50)	[20,24]
Rhodospirillum rubrum, Rhodomicrobium vannielii	0.005	<i>n</i> -C <sub>15</sub> -C <sub>21</sub> ; pristane; squalene; higher cyclic hydrocarbons	squalene; higher cyclic hydrocarbons (93–95)	[20,24]
Gram-negative anaerobic sulfate-reducing bac	teria			
D. desulfuricans	0.8–2.25	<i>n</i> -C <sub>11</sub> -C <sub>35</sub>	<i>n</i> -C <sub>25</sub> -C <sub>35</sub>	[10,26–28]
Gram-negative facultatively anaerobic bacteria	a			
V. ponticus, V. marinus	0.03	$n-C_{15}-C_{18}$	<i>n</i> -C <sub>17</sub> (80)	[13,29]
V. furnissii	60.0	$n-C_{15}-C_{24}$	$n-C_{22}, C_{24}$	[30,31]
E. coli	0.0035	$C_{13} - C_{23}$	$n-C_{16}-C_{18}$ (22–28)	[20,24]
Gram-positive anaerobic bacteria				
C. tetanomorphum	ND	C <sub>15</sub> –C <sub>28</sub> ; pristane; phytane	$n-C_{18}-C_{27}$ (59)	[20]
C. acidiurici	ND	$C_{15}$ - $C_{26}$ ; pristane; phytane	$n-C_{17}$ (50)	[20]
C. pasteurianum	ND	$C_{11} - C_{35}$	$n-C_{25}-C_{35}$ (50–54)	[25]
Gram-positive aerobic bacteria (eubacteria)	0.00			52.03
Bacillus sp.	0.33	$C_{14}-C_{34}$	$n-C_{27}-C_{29}$ (61)	[30]
S. lutea	0.4	$C_{23:1} - C_{30:1}$	$C_{29:1} (43-79)$	[31]
Micrococcus sp.	0.93	$C_{15} - C_{34}$	$n - C_{21}, n - C_{22} (53)$	[30]
Micrococcus sp. M. lysodeikticus	0.08	$C_{17} = C_{30}$	$C_{27}, n = C_{28} (78)$	[30]
Corvnehacterium sp	0.075	$C_{24:1} = C_{29:1}$	$n - C_{27}$ (18)	[30]
Mycobacterium sp.	2.69	$C_{17} - C_{31}$	$n-C_{25}-C_{29}$ (70)	[30]
Vassta		.,	25 27 ( )	
Saccharomyces sp	0.04	Curren Court	$n-C_{27}-C_{20}$ (69)	[30]
S. oviformis	1.6	$C_{17} - C_{34}$ C <sub>10</sub> -C <sub>31</sub>	$n - C_{10} - C_{10}$	[34]
S. oviformis, Saccharomyces ludwigii (anaerobically grown)	3.6-10.2	$C_{10}$ – $C_{31}$ ; squalene	$n - C_{10} - C_{19}$	[34]
C. tropicalis (glucose- or ethanol-grown)	0.006-0.013	C <sub>14</sub> -C <sub>25</sub>	<i>n</i> -C <sub>16</sub> -C <sub>19</sub> (50-59)	[6,18]
C. tropicalis (acetate- or glycerol-grown)	0,012-0.031	C <sub>16</sub> -C <sub>26</sub>	<i>n</i> -C <sub>22</sub> -C <sub>25</sub> (49-66)	[6]
C. tropicalis (propionate-grown)	0.015	C <sub>16</sub> -C <sub>28</sub>	$n-C_{15}-C_{19}$ (86)	[6]
Fungi (mycelium) Penicillium sp., Aspergillus sp.,	0.06–0.70	C <sub>15</sub> C <sub>36</sub>	$n-C_{27}-C_{30}$ (47–62)	[30]
Trichoderma virida	0.1		C	[22]
<i>C. resinge</i> (glucose-grown)	0.1	$C_7 - C_{36}$ ; pristane	$n - c_{16}$	[33]
D hansenii	0.12 ND	$C_{7}$ - $C_{23}$ , pristane	$n-C_{13}, n-C_{14}, n-C_{16}, n-C_{16}, n-C_{16}$	[33]
Pullularia pullulans	ND	$C_{16} - C_{28}$	$C_{19}-C_{22}$	[42]
Fungi (spores)				
Ustilago maydis	0.004	$C_{10} - C_{33}$	$n-C_{27}, C_{20}$ (33–36)	[36.38]
U. nuda	0.006	$C_{25}-C_{37}$	C <sub>35</sub> (18)	[36]
Urocystis agropyri	0.004-0.015	C <sub>19</sub> -C <sub>31</sub>	n-C <sub>29</sub> (46)	[38]
Sphacelotheca reiliana	0.015	C <sub>23</sub> -C <sub>33</sub>	C <sub>29</sub> (34)	[36,38]
Tilletia foetida, T. caries, T. controversa	0.004-0.015	C <sub>21</sub> -C <sub>33</sub>	<i>n</i> -C <sub>29</sub> (26–35)	[37,38]

Note: ND stands for "no data".

The hydrocarbon synthesis by yeasts depended considerably on the growth conditions that provides a way for physiological regulation of this process. For instance, anaerobic conditions promoted the increased production of intracellular hydrocarbons by *Saccharomyces oviformis* and induced the synthesis of squalene, which was not revealed under aerobic growth [34].The synthesis of individual hydrocarbons varied significantly in dependence on the carbon substrate applied. In particular, middle-chain alkanes (C<sub>16</sub>–C<sub>19</sub>) prevailed in *C. tropicalis* grown in the glucose- or ethanol-containing media, whereas long-chain (C<sub>22</sub>–C<sub>25</sub>) alkanes amounted to 49–66% of the total hydrocarbons in the acetate- or glycerol-grown yeasts [6]. Unusual predominance of odd-numbered alkanes was revealed in propionate-grown *C. tropicalis* [6].

Because of the low content of intracellular hydrocarbons, it is difficult to suppose that they play the role of the carbon and energy supply, most probably, hydrocarbons fulfill physiological functions, such as the regulation of the cell membrane permeability. This assumption was supported by the findings that the composition of the hydrocarbon fraction depended considerably on its localization within the yeast cells. In the case of *Candida utilis* grown anaerobically, the hydrocarbon fraction isolated from the cell walls was represented by hexatriene (82%); hydrocarbons of cytoplasmic membrane contained mainly squalene (51%), whereas in the hydrocarbon fraction localized in cytoplasm, *n*-alkanes were predominant [35].

In fungi, the hydrocarbons accumulated in mycelia or in spores differ significantly in their amount and composition. As seen from Table 1, the hydrocarbon content ranged from 0.06 to 0.7% of dry mass in mycelia [30,33] and was sufficiently lower in spores (0.004–0.015%) [36–38]. The hydrocarbon profile of fungal spores was similar to that of higher plants and was dominated by the odd-numbered *n*-alkanes (C<sub>27</sub>, C<sub>29</sub>, and C<sub>35</sub>) [36-40]. Therefore, the origin of alkanes in spores remains doubtful. Information on the hydrocarbon composition of fungal mycelia seems to be more substantial since fungi were cultivated under controlled conditions. Mycelial hydrocarbons contained generally *n*-alkanes from C<sub>15</sub> to C<sub>36</sub> with the predominance of long-chain  $C_{19}$ - $C_{30}$  hydrocarbons [30,41,42]. Unusual composition of the hydrocarbon fraction was revealed in *Cladosporium resinae* grown on the glucose- or glutamatecontaining media [33]; it includes pristane, which is typical of photosynthetic bacteria. Recently, the production of diterpene hydrocarbons was revealed in the fungi Hericium erinaceum and Phoma betae [43,44].

Thus, a great bulk of information concerning microbial hydrocarbons demonstrates that the ability to synthesize hydrocarbons is widespread among microorganisms. Certain systematic groups of microorganisms are characterized by specific composition of the hydrocarbon fractions, for instance, cyanobacteria are unique in their ability to produce 7- and 8-methylheptadecanes; photosynthetic bacteria are distinguished by the synthesis of cyclic hydrocarbons (pristane and phytane), whereas in fungi, long-chain hydrocarbons are predominant. It was assumed that the hydrocarbon composition of microorganisms could be used as a chemotaxonomic criterion [45].

The occurrence of branched hydrocarbons in organic matter is usually used as a biomarker of bacterial origin of marine sediments [2,23,46].

It should be noted that microbial cells are usually characterized by the low content of hydrocarbons (no more than 10% of dry mass); the only exception is bacterium V. furnissii [30,31]. Until recently, the only promising source of hydrocarbons was considered to be green microalga Botryococcus braunii, which accumulated hydrocarbons up to 75% of dry mass [47,48]. The attempts were made to clone the B. braunii genes encoding the key enzymes of the hydrocarbon biosynthesis into bacterial cells to increase the rate of the hydrocarbon production and to reduce the problems associated with a high viscosity of the B. braunii broth [48]. Thus, the main biotechnological problem consists in the determination of the number of metabolic steps (enzymes) involved in the process of the hydrocarbon synthesis. If the transfer of one or two enzymes can activate the hydrocarbon synthesis, the application of recombinant strains for the biotechnological production of renewable fuel appeared to have great potential in the near future.

#### 3. Extracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms

#### 3.1. Long-chain hydrocarbons

Microbial production of extracellular long-chain hydrocarbons received considerable interest in the last years in connection with their role in the petroleum formation and the possibility of their industrial application as modern energy resources.

Bacteria of the genus *Desulfovibrio* and *Clostridium* were shown to produce extracellular long-chain hydrocarbons (up to 19 and 30 mg/l, respectively) [25,49–51]. Unlike intracellular hydrocarbons, which included mainly long-chain  $C_{25}$ – $C_{35}$  *n*alkanes (50–90%), extracellular fractions were represented by hydrocarbons with the lower chain lengths ( $C_{19}$ – $C_{21}$  and  $C_{16}$ –  $C_{18}$  in *Clostridium pasteurianum* and *D. desulfuricans*, respectively) and contained 2.6-fold increased amount of *iso*-forms [25]. The release of hydrocarbons from the *C. pasteurianum* cells was suggested to be connected with the functioning of cytoplasmic membrane: the hydrocarbons of low molecular weight passed through the membrane into the culture broth, whereas the retained hydrocarbons were elongated [25].

The synthesis of extracellular saturated  $C_{21}$ – $C_{33}$  hydrocarbons (10–15 µg/l) was revealed in *Pseudomonas fluorescens* grown in the glucose-containing defined medium [52]. It was assumed that extracellular hydrocarbons had the role of antiadhesins and, therefore, promoted the cell aggregation [52,53].

The process for the production of extracellular hydrocarbons was developed; it involved the cultivation of sulfate-reducing bacteria *D. desulfuricans* in the medium containing mineral salts and calcium lactate under anaerobic conditions in an atmosphere of  $CO_2 + H_2$  (1:20). The isolated hydrocarbon fraction reached 30 mg/l; it consisted of aliphatic  $C_{14}$ - $C_{25}$  hydrocarbons of normal and *iso*-structure [9].

Recently, extensive production of extracellular hydrocarbons (up to 50% of dry biomass) by bacterium *V. furnissii* was revealed; since the composition of hydrocarbons was similar to that of kerosene and light oil, this strain was considered to be a promising producer of renewable fuel [30,31].

The application of sulfate-reducing bacterium *D. desulfuricans* in a biofuel cell was supposed to offer a new opportunity for the power engineering [54].

# 3.2. Volatile non-methane hydrocarbons

The hydrocarbon gases are ubiquitous in the atmosphere and oceanic sediments worldwide [55]. Scant information concerning microbial production of the non-methane hydrocarbons (NMHCs) evoked geochemists to formulate criteria for distinguishing thermogenic or biogenic origin of volatile hydrocarbons. The production of significant amounts of  $C_2-C_4$ alkanes is generally believed to require thermocatalytic reactions at 60-180 °C [56,57], whereas methane and alkenes  $(C_{2:1} \text{ and } C_{3:1})$  are formed biologically [58]. Criteria for determining the origin of hydrocarbon gases were suggested to be the ratios of  $C_1/(C_2 + C_3)$  [59] and  $C_2/C_{2,1}$  [60]. According to these criteria, a seep gas from a biogenic source was characterized by a  $C_1/(C_2 + C_3)$  ratio of over 1000 and a  $C_2/C_{2.1}$ ratio significantly <1, on the other hand, a seep gas from a thermogenic source had a  $C_1/(C_2 + C_3)$  ratio <50 and a  $C_2/C_{2:1}$ ratio significantly >1 [58,61,62].

Bacterial origin of the NMHCs in marine sediments was proved by direct chemical analysis of isolated samples [61,63], by the incorporation of radiolabeled carbon into the gases [64], and by revealing the hydrocarbon production in the growth medium inoculated with sediment [65]. Modern biogenic origin of ethane in marine sediments was confirmed by the analyses of the carbon stable isotopes [66].

The volatile hydrocarbon isoprene (2-methyl-1,3-butadiene) was shown to be produced by actinomycetes belonging to the genera *Pseudonocardia*, *Saccharomonospora*, *Streptomyces*, and *Thermomonospora* [67] and by various bacterial species, both Gram-negative (*Acinetobacter*, *Agrobacterium*, *Escherichia*, *Erwinia*, *Pseudomonas*) and Gram-positive (*Bacillus*, *Micrococcus*, *Rhodococcus*) [68]. The representatives of the genus *Bacillus* were indicated as the most active isoprene producers; the rate of isoprene production by *Bacillus subtilis* was at least 100-fold higher than it was observed in other cultures [69,70]. It was stated that the relative rates of isoprene synthesis by bacteria and by plant leaves were comparable (8.5 and 14 nmol/(g h), respectively) [68].

Soil bacteria and fungi are known to be significant producers of other volatile hydrocarbons, such as ethane, ethylene, propane, and propene [71–73]. In particular, ethylene is usually produced by a wide variety of soil microorganisms including bacterial and fungal plant pathogens [73–79]. Biological formation of ethylene has attracted increasing attention due to its role as a plant growth regulator; ethylene is implicated in the inhibition of the root elongation, the development of disease symptoms, such as petiolar epinasty and abscission, and in the promoting of early ripening of fruits [78,80]. The capability for the synthesis of ethylene (from 0.18 to over 500 ppm) was revealed in 58 fungal strains out of 228 species tested [74]. The production of ethylene by the most active species *Aspergillus clavatus* reached 514 ppm [74]. According to Fukuda et al. [73], out of 166 strains of bacteria, yeasts, and fungi examined, the ethylene production was revealed in 49 strains; the most active producers, *Penicillium digitatum, Schizosaccharomyces octosporus, Penicillium urticae*, and *Cryptococcus laurentii*, synthesized ethylene at the rates of 1394, 204, 114, and 54.6 nl/ ml/h, respectively.

The synthesis of ethylene by many microorganisms was shown to be a methionine-required process. In particular, a strong dependence of ethylene synthesis on the presence of methionine in the media was revealed in experiments with the fungi *Cenococcum geophilum*, *Hebeloma crustuliniforme*, *Laccaria laccata*, *Fusarium oxysporum* [78], and *Botrytis cinerea* [79], yeasts *Cryptococcus albidus* [81], and bacteria belonging to the genera *Pseudomonas*, *Aeromonas*, *Klebsiella*, *Arthrobacter*, *Erwinia*, *Citrobacter*, *Enterobacter*, *Serratia* [82], and *Escherichia coli* [83]. On the other hand, the ethylene production by *P. digitatum* and *Pseudomonas syringae* was dependent on the presence of 2-oxoglutarate in the media [84,85]. These findings imply the functioning of different pathways for the ethylene synthesis in microorganisms.

Another widespread volatile hydrocarbon, ethane, was found to be produced by 49 strains (out of 166 strains tested) belonging to fungi, yeasts, bacteria, and actinomycetes [73]. The rates of ethane synthesis by yeasts *Rhodotorula glutinis*, *Brettanomyces bruxellensis*, *S. octosporus*, and *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* reached 21.5, 15,8, 12.1, and 11.4 nl/ml/h, respectively [73].

Many microbial species were able to produce  $C_3$ -hydrocarbons such as propane and propylene, under aerobic conditions [86,87]. When tested 178 strains of fungi, yeasts, bacteria and actinomycetes, the synthesis of propane and propylene was revealed in 87 and 37 strains, respectively [86]. The rates of propane synthesis by the most active producers, *Brevibacterium ammoniagenes* and *C. albidus*, reached 8.6 and 6.5 nl/ml/h, respectively. The most active propylene-producers, *Gliocladium roseum* and *S. octosporus*, synthesized propylene at the rates of 3.0 and 1.2 nl/ml/h, respectively [86]. Thus, it can be assumed that the production of  $C_3$ -hydrocarbons was not taxonomically specific.

The producers of C<sub>4</sub>-hydrocarbons were found to belong to different systematic groups of microorganisms (bacteria, yeasts, and fungi). When tested 178 cultures, the synthesis of *n*-butane, isobutene, isobutane, 1-butene, *trans*-2-butene, and *cis*-2-butene was revealed in 52, 37, 23, 14, 7, and 4 strains, respectively [86]. It is known that isobutene, unsaturated hydrocarbon with four carbon atoms, is widely used in the petrochemical industry. The rate of isobutene production by the most active strain *Rhodotorula minuta* var. *texenis* reached 16.4 nl/ml/h) [86].

The process for microbial production of the mixture of saturated and unsaturated  $C_2$ - $C_5$  hydrocarbons under aerobic conditions was developed [8]. It was found that certain amino acids had regulatory effect on the synthesis of individual

hydrocarbons by microorganisms. In particular, the synthesis of isobutene was stimulated by the addition of L-leucine into the growth medium; under these conditions, aromatic amino acids (L-phenylalanine, L-tryptophane, and L-tyrosine) as well as benzene compounds (benzoic acid, L-phenylglycine, L-phenylpyruvic acid, etc.) had a synergistic effect on the isobutene production by yeasts [88]. It was suggested that L-phenylalanine induced the synthesis of some enzymes involved in the formation of isobutene [89,90]. The production of *trans-2*butene and cis-2-butene was stimulated by L-isoleucine; in this case, L-phenylalanine had synergistic effect on the isobutene synthesis. The ethylene synthesis was stimulated by Lmethionine; on the other hand, the formation of saturated hydrocarbons such as ethane, propane, *n*-butane, isobutene, and *n*-pentane, was stimulated by L-cysteine [8]. The involvement of methionine in the ethylene synthesis is discussed below (Section 4.3.1), whereas the role of other amino acids in the hydrocarbon synthesis remains unclear.

# 4. Pathways for the hydrocarbon synthesis by microorganisms

# 4.1. Biosynthesis of straight-chain hydrocarbons

Aliphatic hydrocarbons were presumed to derive from fatty acids. Two routes for the biosynthesis of straight-chain hydrocarbons have been widely discussed: the "elongation– decarboxylation" and the "head-to-head condensation" pathways. The best known of them, the "elongation–decarboxylation" pathway envisages de novo synthesis of long-chain fatty acids (e.g.  $C_{16}$  and  $C_{18}$ ), which are elongated by the continuous addition of a  $C_2$  unit derived from malonyl-CoA with the subsequent decarboxylation. This route was first discovered in plant tissues [91,92]. Similar mechanism of the hydrocarbon synthesis was also suggested in *E. coli* [93] and in cyanobacterium *Nostoc muscorum* [94].

The other widely considered pathway for the alkane biosynthesis involves the head-to-head condensation of two fatty acids (or suitable derivatives) with the subsequent decarboxylation of one of them. This route was investigated in detail in bacteria *S. lutea* [3,4,15,95].

The most intriguing step in these pathways is the reaction of decarboxylation. It is considered that the direct loss of the carboxyl carbon of a fatty acid is not mechanistically feasible without an electron-withdrawing group adjacent to the  $\alpha$ carbon [96]. It has been well documented that the elimination of CO<sub>2</sub> from carboxylic acids requires high energy and, therefore, has to be activated by a  $\beta$ -substituent able to stabilize the negative charge generated by CO<sub>2</sub> release (cited from [7]). Accordingly, it has generally been thought that the activated fatty acid derivatives are the intermediates in the decarboxylation reaction leading to hydrocarbons. Experimental results suggested that an aldehyde could be the immediate precursor of a hydrocarbon. The fatty acyl-CoA reductase activity responsible for converting fatty acids to aldehydes has been identified in a variety of organisms from bacteria to animals [7,97-99]. The gene encoding this enzyme has been recently cloned from the plant seeds and  $\gamma$ -proteobacteria (*Acineto-bacter calcoaceticus* and *Photobacterium leiognathi*) [100–102].

The discovery of the decarbonylation reaction in the microsomal fraction of green alga *B. braunii* suggested a possible mechanism for the conversion of aldehydes to hydrocarbons. The purified aldehyde decarbonylase containing the cobalt–porphyrin complex catalyzed the decarbonylation of octadecanal to heptadecane and CO with near a 1:1 stoichiometry [96,103]. The role of metal ion involved in the enzymatic decarbonylation remains unclear. The metal ion-binding chelators were found to inhibit the conversion of aldehydes to hydrocarbons in microsomal or solubilized and purified preparations from the animal-, insect-, plant-, and algal sources [104].

In spite of the obvious generality of the pathway involving the decarbonylation of aldehydes to hydrocarbons, alternative reactions of the hydrocarbon biosynthesis have been revealed recently. In particular, both decarbonylation and decarboxylation of octanal was suggested in the pathway for the *n*-heptane synthesis in plant tissues [105]. In archaea, the acetyl-CoA decarbonylase–synthase complex was shown to contain five different subunits (cited from [7]).

A new pathway for the synthesis of long-chain alkanes via 1alcohols was proposed in *V. furnissii* [106]. It was assumed that 1-hexadecanal derived from 1-hexadecanoic acid was oxidized to 1-hexanol, and, finally, converted to hexadecane. This pathway explains the occurrence of similar levels of even- and odd-numbered alkanes in bacteria, while the even-numbered fatty acids were predominant [106].

The synthesis of extracellular hydrocarbons by sulfatereducing bacteria D. desulfuricans grown heterotrophically in the lactate-containing medium under the atmosphere of  $H_2 + CO_2$  was studied by using labeling substrates [10]. It was revealed that  ${}^{14}C$  from bicarbonate was actively incorporated into formate and acetate (37 and 41%, respectively). The synthesis of formate was suggested to proceed via the direct reduction of CO<sub>2</sub>. The other electron acceptors (sulfate and nitrate) were less suitable for the hydrocarbon formation than CO<sub>2</sub>. When labeled formate was added into the medium, about 78-79% of <sup>14</sup>C was found in acetate that indicates the involvement of formate in the acetate synthesis by *D. desulfuricans*. In the presence of labeled acetate, <sup>14</sup>C derived from methyl group was incorporated into hydrocarbons more actively than the label derived from carboxylic group that testifies the involvement of the decarboxylation reaction in this process. By using tritium-labeled water, it was revealed that protons derived from water were actively incorporated into extracellular hydrocarbons by sulfate-reducing bacteria.

On the basis of the results obtained, it was suggested that the hydrocarbon synthesis by sulfate-reducing bacteria involves formation of acetate and formate from  $CO_2$  with the subsequent reduction of these acids to aldehydes, which, in turn, undergo aldol condensation with the chain elongation to produce hydrocarbons [10] (Fig. 1). The involvement of formaldehyde in the condensation process may explain the production of both even- and odd-numbered hydrocarbons. It is not excluded that



Fig. 1. Pathway for the hydrocarbon biosynthesis by sulfate-reducing bacteria (adapted from [10]).

formaldehyde and acetaldehyde can interact with other compounds, such as derivatives of lactate, pyruvate, and acetate, to form alcohols and then hydrocarbons [10] (Fig. 1).

It was shown that the synthesis of extracellular hydrocarbons by sulfate-reducing bacteria depended considerably on the medium composition and the ratio of  $H_2$  and  $CO_2$  in a gas phase that allows the physiological regulation of this process to be performed [51].

# 4.2. Biosynthesis of branched hydrocarbons

The synthesis of branched hydrocarbons was studied in detail in bacteria S. lutea, whose the most abundant hydrocarbons contained methyl groups on both ends of the molecule and a double bond near the center. The number of the carbon atoms in the hydrocarbon molecule was equal to one less than two times the average number of the carbon atoms in the most abundant fatty acids [95]. The distribution of the carbon chains of isoleucine, valine, and acetate in fatty acids and hydrocarbons synthesized in vivo is consistent with the "head-to-head condensation" pathway of the hydrocarbon synthesis [4,95]. Labeling studies showed that *anteiso* aliphatic groups of fatty acids and hydrocarbons were derived from five terminal carbons of isoleucine and the remaining carbons originated from acetate, whereas valine contributed isoaliphatic groups [15]. The observed variations in the relative proportions of the members of each alkene family in S. lutea was assumed to depend on the availability of isoleucine and valine in the growth media [3].

The mixture of 7- and 8-methylheptadecanes, which is typical of cyanobacteria was shown to derive from *cis*-vaccenic acid (11-octadecenoic acid) by the addition of methyl- $^{14}$ C

group of methionine to a double bond with the subsequent reduction and decarboxylation of the fatty acids [3,107].

# 4.3. Biosynthesis of volatile non-methane hydrocarbons

#### 4.3.1. Ethylene biosynthesis

At present, three pathways for the ethylene biosynthesis are known (Fig. 2). In higher plants, the most acceptable pathway for the ethylene biosynthesis proceeds via aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid (ACC) and is termed "the ACC pathway" [79,108–110]. According to this pathway (Fig. 2A), at the first stage, the intermediate S-adenosyl methionine (SAM) is produced from methionine by SAM synthase and then it is converted to ACC and 5'methylthioadenosine (MTA) by ACC synthase. MTA is then recycled to methionine through a number of intermediates (5'-methylthioribose (MTR), 5'-methylthioribose-1-phosphate (MTR-1-P), and 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyric acid (KMBA)) that allows the level of L-methionine to remain relatively unchanged even at high rates of ethylene production. The final step is the conversion of ACC to ethylene by ACC oxidase (Fig. 2A).

The ACC pathway is of rare occurrence in microorganisms; it has been described only in the slime mold *Dictyostelium mucoroides* [111] and in the fungus *Penicillium citrinum* grown in methionine-containing medium; from the latter, ACC synthase was purified and characterized [112].

The pathway for the ethylene synthesis, which is common in microorganisms, is termed "the KMBA pathway" (Fig. 2B). It assumes the generation of ethylene from methionine that is in agreement with the well-known methionine requirement for the ethylene synthesis in a great number of microorganisms [78,79,81-83]. This pathway involves the transaminasecatalyzed conversion of methionine to KMBA, which is then oxidized to ethylene in the presence of hydroxyl radicals (Fig. 2B). The transaminase activity requires  $\alpha$ -ketoacid as a co-substrate and results in the formation of KMBA and the amino acid [3,113]. The oxidation of KMBA to ethylene can proceed either enzymatically (with the involvement of peroxidase or oxidoreductase) or photochemically. In particular, when B. cinerea was cultivated in light or in the dark, the KMBA was accumulated in the culture broth during the first hours of the hyphae growth and then it was converted to ethylene either enzymatically (in the dark) or photochemically (in light). The addition of peroxidase to the dark-grown cultures induced ethylene synthesis [114]. Fukuda et al. [81] isolated NADH-Fe(III)EDTA oxidoreductase involved in the conversion of KMBA to ethylene in C. albidus. This enzyme catalyzed the release of hydroxyl radicals, which reacted with KMBA to produce ethanol. Similar enzyme, which required NADH, Fe(III)EDTA, and oxygen as cofactors to produce ethylene from KMBA, was isolated from the cell-free extracts of E. coli [83].

The KMBA pathway for the ethylene synthesis was described in various microorganisms, such as *E. coli* [83], *C. albidus* [81], *B. cinerea* [79,114], and in the fungi isolated from soil rhizosphere [115].



Fig. 2. Pathways for the ethylene biosynthesis: (A) the ACC pathway (adapted from [108]); (B) the KMBA pathway [3,115]; (C) the pathway involving 2oxoglutarate (adapted from [122]). Abbrevations: ACC, aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid; SAM, S-adenosylmethionine; MTA, 5'-methylthioadenosine; MTR, 5'-methylthioribose; MTR-1-P, 5'-methylthioribose-1-phosphate; KMBA, 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyric acid.

The third known pathway for the ethylene biosynthesis involves 2-oxoglutaric acid as a precursor and the multifunction enzyme termed "ethylene-forming enzyme" (EFE) (Fig. 2C). This pathway was described in fungi Penicillium cyclopium [116], P. digitatum [117,118], F. oxisporum [119], and in bacterium P. syringae [85,120]. The EFE was purified from P. digitatum, its activity was stimulated by L-arginine and ferrous ions under reduced conditions [118]. Recently, successful attempts were made to introduce the gene encoding EFE from P. syringae to E. coli [121]. Photosynthetic conversion of carbon dioxide to ethylene was demonstrated in the recombinant cyanobacterial strain Synechococcus sp. PCC 7942, which harbors the EFE-encoding gene from P. syringae [122]. Thus, the application of genetic engineering appears to be perspective for the construction of recombinant strains capable of intensive ethylene production.

#### 4.3.2. Isobutene biosynthesis

The synthesis of isobutene was studied using the selected strain *R. minuta* [88,90]. It was found that the isobutene production was increased by the addition of L-leucine to the growth medium or to the suspension of the resting cells; L-phenyalanine had a synergistic effect on the production of isobutene in the presence of L-leucine [88]. It was assumed that isobutene was formed by the decarboxylation of 3-methylcro-

tonyl CoA in the catabolic pathway of the L-leucine turnover [88]:

*l*-leucine  $\rightarrow \alpha$ -ketoisocaproic acid  $\rightarrow$ 

 $isovaleryl-CoA \rightarrow 3$ -methylcrotonyl-CoA  $\rightarrow isobutene$ 

It is noteworthy that L-phenylalanine showed a synergistic effect on the isobutene synthesis not only in the presence of leucine, but also with  $\alpha$ -ketoisocaproic and isovaleric acids [88]. Isovaleric acid was the best substrate for the isobutene synthesis by the cell-free system obtained from *R. minuta* [90]. It still remains obscure the mechanisms of synergistic effects of amino acids on the synthesis of C<sub>2</sub>–C<sub>5</sub> hydrocarbons.

#### 4.3.3. Isoprenoid biosynthesis

For a long time, it had remained unclear whether there is a universal mechanism for the isoprenoid formation in bacteria, plants, and humans. At present, it is assumed that fundamental units of the isoprenoid biosynthesis, such as isopentenyl diphosphate (IPP) and dimethylallyl diphosphate (DMAPP), can be produced via two completely different pathways, which are termed the mevalonate pathway (MVA) and the methylerythritol phosphate pathway (MEP) (Fig. 3). The MVA pathway had long been known, whereas the reactions of the MEP pathway were determined much later [123–128]. The MVA



Fig. 3. Pathways for the isoprenoid biosynthesis: (A) the MVA pathway (adapted from [128]); (B) the MEP pathway (adapted from [128]); (C) interrelationship between the syntheses of monoterpenes, sterols, and isoprenoids (adapted from [128,134]). Abbrevations: IPP, isopentenyl diphosphate; DMAPP, dimethylallyl diphosphate. Enzymes: (1) β-ketothiolase; (2) 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA synthase; (3) 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase; (4) mevalonate kinase; (5) 5-phosphomevalonate kinase; (6) 5-diphosphomevalonate decarboxylase; (7) isopentenyl-diphosphate isomerase; (8) 1-deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate synthase; (9) 1-deoxyxylulose-5-phosphate reductoisomerase; (10) 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methylerythritol synthetase; (11) 4-diphosphocytidyl-2-C-methyl-D-erythritol kinase; (12) 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol-2,4-cyclodiphosphate synthase; (13) (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-methyl-D-erythritol-2,4-cyclodiphosphate synthase; (14) prenyl transferase; (15) enzymes of the limonene pathway; (16) rubber transferase; (17) squalene synthase, SQS (ERG9).

pathway starts from acetyl-CoA; the key intermediate is mevalonate phosphate formed from 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA (Fig. 3A). The MEP pathway (Fig. 3B) starts from pyruvate and glyceraldehydes-3-phosphate, which are converted into 1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate (DXP); the main intermediates are 2-C-methyl-D-erythritol-4-phosphate, 2-C- methyl-D-erythritol-2,4-cyclodiphosphate, and 4-hydroxy-3methylbut-2-enyl diphosphate. The genes encoding enzymes involved in the MEP pathway have been recently identified [128].

The comparative studies on the efficiency of the MVA and the MEP pathways revealed that they are quite different with respect to stoichiometry, energy consumption, and the oxidation/reduction balance [128]. On assuming that glucose is used as a carbon source and metabolized through the fructose 1,6-bisphosphate pathway, the overall stoichiometry of the conversion of glucose to IPP is as follows [128]:

The MVA pathway : 1.5 glucose  $\rightarrow$  IPP + 4CO<sub>2</sub> + 8[H];

The MEP pathway : 1glucose + 3ATP + 2[H]  $\rightarrow$ IPP + CO<sub>2</sub> + 3ADP

Thus, from an energetic point of view, the MVA pathway is much more efficient since the synthesis of IPP requires no ATP and yields 8[H], which could be subsequently used for the ATP production in the course of respiration, whereas the conversion of glucose to IPP via the MEP pathway consumes 3 mol of ATP and 2[H].

It seems somewhat surprising that the MEP pathway being less energetically efficient than the MVA pathway is widespread among prokaryotes. It was stated that many bacteria, both Gram-negative and Gram-positive, were able to assemble the C-5 building blocks of the isoprenoid biosynthesis (IPP and DMAPP) through the MEP pathway rather than via the MVA pathway [123].

The study of the isoprene formation by *B. subtilis* from <sup>13</sup>C-labeling substrates revealed that it proceeds via the MEP pathway rather than through the classical MVA pathway [124]. The absence of the MVA pathway was also suggested by the finding that the *B. subtilis* genome lacked a gene for the key enzyme, 3-hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl-CoA reductase (HMGR) and the growth of bacteria was not blocked by simvastatin, a potent inhibitor of HMGR [124,129].

The MEP pathway was revealed in several highly pathogenic microorganisms, such as *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, that makes it possible to use specific inhibitors of the MEP pathway (fosmidomycin and fluoropyruvate) as potent drugs to defeat pathogens. For example, fosmidomycin and fluoropyruvate were recently identified as inhibitors of enzymes involved in the MEP pathway (1-deoxy-D-xylulose-5-phosphate (DXP) reductoisomerase and DXP synthase) [128].

The occurrence of the MEP and MVA pathways in bacteria of different taxonomic groups was established by investigating the effect of inhibitors of the MEP and MVA pathways (fosmidomycin and mevinoline, respectively) on the growth of 34 anaerobic and 10 aerobic prokaryotic strains [130]. The MEP pathway was revealed in nine (out of 10) representatives of the family *Microbacteriaceae*, four (out of five) strains of the genus *Thermobacter*, and 11 (out of 12) strains of the genus *Clostridium*, whereas the MVA pathway was found in lactobacilli (*Carnobacterium*), methanogenic and sulfate-reducing bacteria. Thus, it can be assumed that the functioning of the MVA or the MEP pathways in microorganisms is a species-specific process. It is possible that in some bacteria, more than one pathway for the isoprenoid biosynthesis may function, as suggested in *Streptomyces aeriouvifer* [131].

The enzyme isoprene synthase, which catalyzes the  $Mg^{2+}$ dependent conversion of DMAPP to isoprene and PPi was detected and partially purified from *B. subtilis* [132]. The isoprene synthase reaction involves simple elimination of pyrophosphate, probably through a transient carbon atom, which can rearrange to form isoprene. As in other isoprenoid synthases, divalent cation in this enzyme facilitates the departure of the pyrophosphate group [133].

The isoprenoid synthesis involves the successive additions of IPP to DMAPP or to the condensation products catalyzed by prenyltransferases that results in the formation of geranyl diphosphate ( $C_{10}$ ), farnesyl diphosphate ( $C_{15}$ ), and geranylgeranyl diphosphate ( $C_{20}$ ). The interrelationship between the production of monoterpenes, sterols, and poly-isoprenoids is shown schematically in Fig. 3C [128,134]. Farnesyl diphosphate appeared to be a branching point in the synthesis of sterols, poly-isoprenoids (including rubber-like polymers), and other isoprenoids (sesquiterpenes, carotenoids, quinines, etc.).

Recent advances in the elucidation of the pathways for the isoprenoid and poly-isoprene biosynthesis have encouraged attempts to develop the production of the rubber-like polymers by microorganisms [128,134], particularly, by oleaginous yeasts (Yarrowia lipolytica, Cryptococcus curvatus, and others), which are able to accumulate lipids up to 50% of dry mass. The attempts are now initiated to re-direct the metabolic flux from acetyl-CoA in favor of the formation of poly-isoprenes by using multiple transgenesis [134]. To increase the precursor supplies for the rubber polymerase genes, which can be cloned from Brazilian rubber tree Hevea brasiliensis or guayule Parthenium argentatum in microbial cells, the following steps are suggested to be involved: the disruption of the ACC gene encoding acetyl-CoA carboxylase (a key enzyme of the fatty acid biosynthesis), the overexpression of HMGR gene encoding hydroxymethylglutaryl-CoA reductase, which is involved in the mevalonate synthesis, and the disruption of SQS gene encoding squalene synthase. As a first step for the metabolic engineering, the isolation of SQS gene from Y. lipolytica was reported [134].

It is implied that only biotechnological production of natural rubber by microorganisms will provide the full flexibility of this process and its independence of geographic, climatic, seasonal and other factors. Another advantage of microbe applications is high accessibility of microbial metabolism to genetic engineering and its great flexibility with regard to the flux of intermediates and pathways of engineering. It is also possible the establishment of microbial systems for the production of poly-isoprene molecules with modified chemical structures of defined molecular weights. In view of this, the strategy should be to screen for the poly-isoprenoid-synthesizing prokaryotes or to obtain recombinant bacteria capable of producing polyisoprenoids with a chemical structure identical to natural rubber by using genetic and metabolic engineering [128].

## 5. Role of microbial hydrocarbons

It is known that in higher plants, alkanes are mainly involved in the synthesis of epicuticular wax layer, which primary function is to reduce the water loss through the epidermis; in addition, this outer layer has a major function in the plant interactions with herbivorous insects and the plant pathogenic fungi; the composition of pollen wax was revealed to be important factor for the proper pollen–pistil interactions [135]. Isoprenoids of higher plants play a role in protecting plants against herbivores and pathogens, in attracting pollinators and the seed dispersing animals and serve as allelochemicals, which influence the competition between plant species (cited from [136]). Hydrocarbons of green microalga *Botryococcus* were shown to serve as the storage intermediates for the synthesis of epoxides and other lipids [47].

The role of hydrocarbons in microorganisms is still not completely understood. Hydrocarbons arranged at the wall surfaces of fungal spores appear to fulfill protective function [137]. This is important in the plant disease development because the spores became more resistant to desiccation and to fungicidal sprays. The functions of intracellular hydrocarbons of microorganisms remain unclear: because of their low content, it is difficult to suppose that they have the role of the carbon and energy supply; most probably, intracellular hydrocarbons play a part in the microbial cell walls and control physicochemical properties of cytoplasmic membranes; this is confirmed by the data on different composition of hydrocarbons located in the cell walls, cytoplasmic membranes, and cytoplasm of yeasts [35]. Hydrocarbons can also promote the intracellular accumulation of hydrophobic compounds (much like the consumption of water-insoluble elemental sulphur by thionic bacteria).

The biosynthesis of extracellular straight-chain hydrocarbons by sulfate-reducing bacteria and clostridia appeared to be associated with the formation of capsules on the cell surface, which protect bacteria from high concentrations of excreted acids [25]. It is suggested that extracellular saturated  $C_{21}$ – $C_{33}$  hydrocarbons produced by bacteria *P. fluorescens* are involved in the autoregulation of the cell adhesion to a glass surface and promote the cell aggregation [52].

The production of ethylene by slime mold *D. mucoroides* was shown to induce the formation of macrocysts during the sexual cycle of the cell development, whereas the possible functions of ethylene in the asexual development were associated with the cell aggregation and differentiation [111].

Microbial production of gaseous hydrocarbons seemed to have important role in the plant-microorganism and interspecies interactions. Volatile unsaturated hydrocarbons have been implicated as possible causative agents of soil fungistasis [138]. Different functions of ethylene were suggested in symbiotic and in the pathogen-host interactions. Ethylene is known to exhibit the root growth promoting properties much like auxins. It was found that when a functional mycorrhizal association was formed, low level of ethylene was produced and the lateral root formation increased; on the other hand, high levels of ethylene associated with the disease development caused by Fusarium fungi may function in lowering the disease resistance of the host plant [78]. The ethylene production by soil microorganisms was shown to have detrimental effects on the growth of plants and microorganisms [82]. It was found that volatile hydrocarbons produced by Bacillus species were antagonistic to cyanobacteria and the plant pathogenic fungi [139–141]; in particular, isoprene was supposed to be an antimicrobial agent, perhaps acting synergistically with isoamyl alcohol [68].

There are hints that isoprene could serve as a volatile repellent of soil predators or as the growth inhibitor of competing microbes. For example, it has been reported that Collembola insects grazing bacteria and fungi in soil are repelled by isoprene [142]. It is known that *Bacillus* species are prevalent in the rhizosphere, where they can produce the plant growth stimulating factors and synthesize antifungal agents [143]; it is possible that isoprene could play a role in these extracellular events. In terms of the intercellular communication, it has been discovered that Gram-positive bacteria (for instance, B. subtilis) are able to use the cell density-dependent signaling events [144]; it has been suggested that some uncharacterized secondary metabolites may play a role in bacterial communications [145]. Isoprene might be such a secondary metabolite; its volatility would allow it to serve as a transient signaling molecule.

Thus, microbial hydrocarbons appear to regulate the cell development, act as causative agents in the plant–microorganism, predator–prey, and interspecies interactions, and play an important ecological and physiological role.

# 6. Conclusions

- 1. Based on the material reviewed, it can be stated that the capability for hydrocarbon synthesis is widespread among microorganisms (both prokaryotes and eukaryotes).
- 2. Certain systematic groups of microorganisms are characterized by specific composition of intracellular hydrocarbons, which may serve as a chemotaxonomic criterion. At present, hydrocarbon biomarkers are widely used to constrain the age of the ancient bacteria, archaea, and eukaryotes and determine the role of microorganisms in the genesis of petroleum and marine sediments. The synthesis of hydrocarbons by microorganisms varied in dependence on the growth conditions that provides a way for its physiological regulation.
- 3. The developed processes for microbial production of extracellular C14-C25 hydrocarbons and volatile nonmethane hydrocarbons appear to be very promising. The hydrocarbon content of microbial cells is usually low (no more than 10% of dry mass) that gives no hope for the industrial production of the hydrocarbon-rich biomass with the use of native microorganisms. The construction of recombinant strains bearing genes of the hydrocarbon synthesis cloned from algae or plants seems rather tempting. Microbes possess significant potential advantages over photosynthetic organisms, such as the higher growth rate, the capability for the growth in large-scale fermentors, great metabolic flexibility and high accessibility to genetic engineering. Gains in the genetic and metabolic engineering will allow the establishment of microbial systems for the production of renewable fuel and valuable hydrocarbon compounds, such as the rubber-like polymers.

#### References

- Summons RE, Jahnke LL, Hope JM, Logan GA. 2-Methylhopanoids as biomarkers for cyanobacterial oxygenic photosynthesis. Nature 1999;400:554–7.
- [2] Brocks JJ, Buick R, Summons RE, Logan GA. A reconstruction of Archean biological diversity based on molecular fossils from the 2.78 to 2.45 billion-year-old Mount Bruce Supergroup, Hamersley Basin, Western Australia. Geochim Cosmochim Acta 2003;67:4321–35.
- [3] Bird CW, Lynch JM. Formation of hydrocarbons by microorganisms. Chem Soc Rev 1974;3:309–28.
- [4] Albro PW. Bacterial waxes. In: Kolattukudy PE, editor. Chemistry and biochemistry of natural waxes. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1976. p. 419–45.
- [5] Weete JD. Algae and fungal waxes. In: Kolattukudy PE, editor. Chemistry and biochemistry of natural waxes. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1976. p. 349–417.
- [6] Dedyukhina EG, Zhelifonova VP, Eroshin VK. Hydrocarbons of microorganisms. Usp Mikrobiol (Adv Microbiol) 1980;15:84–98 [in Russian].
- [7] Valderrama B. Bacterial hydrocarbon biosynthesis revised. In: Vazqucz-Duhalt R, Quintero-Ramircz R, editors. Studies in surface science and catalysis. Elsevier B.V.; 2004. p. 373–84.
- [8] Fukuda, H., Ogawa, T., Fujii, T., Method for producing hydrocarbon mixtures. US Patent 4,698,304 (1987).
- [9] Belyaeva, M.I., Zolotukhina, L.M., Bagaeva, T.V. Method for the production of liquid hydrocarbons. Invention Certificate SU2027760; 1995 [in Russian].
- [10] Bagaeva, T.V., Sulfate-reducing bacteria, hydrocarbon producers. Thesis Doctoral (Biol) Dissertation. Russia: Kazan State University; 1998 [in Russian].
- [11] Schlegel HG. Allgemeine mikrobiologie. Stuttgart, New York: Verlag; 1985.
- [12] Jankowski GJ, ZoBell CE. Hydrocarbon production by sulfate-reducing bacteria. J Bacteriol 1944;47:447.
- [13] Stone RW, ZoBell CE. Bacterial aspects of the origin of petroleum. Ind Eng Chem 1952;44:2564–7.
- [14] Tornabene TG, Oro J. <sup>14</sup>C-incorporation into the fatty acids and aliphatic hydrocarbons of *Sarcina lutea*. J Bacteriol 1967;94:349–58.
- [15] Albro PW, Dittmer JC. The biochemistry of long-chain, nonisoprenoid hydrocarbons. II. The incorporation of acetate and the aliphatic chains of isoleucine and valine into fatty acids and hydrocarbons by *Sarcina lutea* in vivo. Biochemistry 1969;8:953–9.
- [16] Merdinger E, Erye RH. Distribution of <sup>14</sup>C from glucose-1<sup>14</sup>C in the lipid fractions of *Debaryomyces hansenii*. J Bacteriol 1966;91:1831–9.
- [17] Cassagne MC, Larrouquere-Regnier S. Mise en èvidence et etude prèliminaire d'um système enzymatique synthètisant les alcanes dans le surnageant 105000 g de *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Comptes Rendus Acad Sci Paris 1972;275:1711–6.
- [18] Dedyukhina EG, Andreev LV, Popkov GP, Eroshin VK. Biosynthesis of hydrocarbons by alkane-oxidizing microorganisms. Mikrobiologiya 1972;41:664–7 [in Russian].
- [19] Han J, McCarthy ED, Calvin M, Benn MH. Hydrocarbon constituents of the blue-green algae Nostoc muscorum, Anacystis nidulans, Phormidium luridum, and Chlorogloea fritschii. J Chem Soc 1968;22:2785–91.
- [20] Han J, Calvin M. Hydrocarbon distribution of algae and bacteria, and microbiological activity in sediments. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 1969;64:436–43.
- [21] Winters K, Parker PL, Van Baalen CV. Hydrocarbons of blue-green algae: geochemical significance. Science 1969;163:467–8.
- [22] Dembitsky VM, Dor I, Shkrob I, Aki M. Branched alkanes and other apolar compounds produced by the cyanobacterium *Microcoleus vaginatus* from the Negev Desert. Russ J Bioorg Chem 2001;27:110–9 [translated from Bioorganicheskaya Khimiya].
- [23] Koster J, Volkman JK, Rullkotter J, Scholzbottcher BM, Rethmeier J, Fischer U. Monomethyl-branched, dimethyl-branched, and trimethylbranched alkanes in cultures of the filamentous cyanobacterium *Calothrix scopulorum*. Org Geochem 1999;30:1367–79.

- [24] Calvin M. The nature of hydrocarbons in microorganisms. In: Calvin M, editor. Chemical evolution. Oxford: Oxford University Press; 1969. p. 39–54.
- [25] Bagaeva TV, Zinurova EE. Comparative characterization of extracellular and intracellular hydrocarbons of *Clostridium pasteurianum*. Biochemistry (Moscow) 2004;69:427–8 [translated from Biokhimiya].
- [26] Oppenheimer CH. Bacterial production of hydrocarbon-like materials. Z Allgem Mikrobiol 1965;5:284–9.
- [27] Davis JB. Paraffinic hydrocarbons in the sulfate-reducing bacterium *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. Chem Geol 1968;3:155–62.
- [28] Bagaeva TV, Chernova TG. Comparative characteristics of extracellular and intracellular hydrocarbons of *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. Biochemistry (Moscow) 1994;59:31–3 [translated from Biokhimiya].
- [29] Oro J, Tornabene TG, Nooner DW, Gelpi E. Aliphatic hydrocarbons and fatty acids of some marine- and freshwater-microorganisms. J Bacteriol 1967;93:1811–8.
- [30] Jones JG. Studies on lipids of soil microorganisms with particular reference to hydrocarbons. J Gen Microbiol 1969;59:145–52.
- [31] Tornabene TG, Morrison SJ, Kloos WE. Aliphatic hydrocarbon contents of various members of the family *Micrococcaceae*. Lipids 1970;5:929–34.
- [32] Albro PW. Confirmation of the identification of the major C<sub>29</sub> hydrocarbons of *Sarcina lutea*. J Bacteriol 1971;108:213–8.
- [33] Walker JD, Cooney JJ. Aliphatic hydrocarbons of *Cladosporium resinae* cultured on glucose, glutamic acid, and hydrocarbons. Appl Microbiol 1973;26:705–8.
- [34] Baraud J, Cassagne C, Genevois L, Joneau M. Présence d'hydrocarbures dans l'insaponifiable des lipides de levures. Compt Rend Acad Sci Paris 1967;265:83–5.
- [35] Fabre-Joneau M, Baraud J, Cassagne C. Nature et repartition des hydrocarbures chez la levure *Candida utilis*. Compt Rend Acad Aci Paris 1969;268:2282–5.
- [36] Oro J, Laseter JL, Weber D. Alkanes in fungal spores. Science 1966;154:399–400.
- [37] Laseter JL, Hess WM, Weete JD, Stocks DL, Weber DJ. Chemotaxonomic and ultrastructural studies on three species of *Tilletia* occurring on wheat. Can J Microbiol 1968;14:1149–54.
- [38] Weete JD, Laseter JL, Weber DJ, Hess WM, Stocks DL. Hydrocarbons, fatty acids, and ultrastructure of smut spores. Phytopathology 1969;59:545–51.
- [39] Fisher DJ, Holloway PJ, Richmond DV. Fatty acid and hydrocarbon constituents of the surface and wall lipids of some fungal spores. J Gen Microbiol 1972;72:71–8.
- [40] Weete JD. Aliphatic hydrocarbons. In: Weete JD, editor. Fungal lipid biochemistry. New York, London: Plenum Press; 1974. p. 39–43.
- [41] Merdinger E, Devine EM. Lipids of *Debaryomyces hansenii*. J Bacteriol 1965;89:1488–93.
- [42] Merdinger E, Kohn P, McClain RC. Composition of lipids in extracts of *Pullularia pullulans*. Can J Microbiol 1968;14:1021–7.
- [43] Kenmoku H, Kato N, Shimada M, Omoto M, Mori A, Mitsuhashi W, et al. Isolation of (-)-cyatha-3,12-diene, a common biosynthetic intermediate of cyathane diterpenoids from an erinacine-producing basidiomycete *Hericium erinaceum*, and its formation in a cell-free system. Tetrahedron Lett 2001;42:7439–42.
- [44] Oikawa H, Toshima H, Ohashi S, Konig WA, Kenmoku H, Sassa T. Diversity of diterpene hydrocarbons in fungus *Phoma betae*. Tetrahedron Lett 2001;42:2329–32.
- [45] Jones JG, Young BV. Major paraffin constituents of microbial cells with particular references to *Chromatium* sp. Arch Mikrobiol 1970;70:82–8.
- [46] Lu H, Peng P, Sun Y. Molecular and stable carbon isotopic composition of monomethylalkanes from one oil sand sample: source implications. Org Geochem 2003;34:745–54.
- [47] Kalacheva GS, Zhila NO, Volova TG. Lipid and hydrocarbon compositions of a collection strain and a wild sample of green microalga *Botryococcus*. Aquat Ecol 2002;36:317–30.
- [48] Banerjee A, Sharma R, Chisti Y, Banerjee UC. *Botryococcus braunii*: a renewable source of hydrocarbons and other chemicals. Crit Rev Biotechnol 2002;22:245–79.

- [49] Bagaeva TV, Zolotukhina LM. The formation of hydrocarbons by sulfatereducing bacteria grown under chemolithoheterotrophic conditions. Microbiology (Moscow) 1994;63:993–5 [translated from Mikrobiologiya].
- [50] Bagaeva TV. The ability of sulfate-reducing bacteria of various taxonomic groups to synthesize extracellular hydrocarbons. Microbiology (Moscow) 1997;66:796–9 [translated from Mikrobiologiya].
- [51] Bagaeva TV. Effect of the composition of the gaseous phase on the formation of hydrocarbons in *Desulfovibrio desulfuricans*. Appl Biochem Microbiol (Moscow) 2000;36:195–8 [translated from Prikladnaya Biokchimiya i Mikrobiologiya].
- [52] Nikolaev YuA, Panikov NS, Lukin SM, Osipov GA. Saturated C<sub>21</sub>-C<sub>33</sub> hydrocarbons are involved in the self-regulation of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* adhesion to a glass surface. Microbiology (Moscow) 2001;70:174–81 [translated from Mikrobiologiya].
- [53] Nikolaev YuA, Prosser JI. Extracellular factors affecting the adhesion of *Pseudomonas fluorescens* cells to glass surfaces. Microbiology (Moscow) 2000;69:231–6 [translated from Mikrobiologiya].
- [54] Fedorovich VV, Majitov TO, Kalyuzhnyi SV. Biofuel cells—a new opportrunity for power engineering. Kataliz Promyshlennost (Catal Ind) 2004;1:29–34 [in Russian].
- [55] Broadgate WJ, Liss PS, Penkett SA. Seasonal emissions of isoprene and other reactive hydrocarbon gases from the ocean. Geophys Res Lett 1997;24:2675–8.
- [56] Sweeney RE. Petroleum-related hydrocarbon seepage in recent North Sea sediment. Chem Geol 1988;71:53–64.
- [57] Galimov EM. Sources and mechanisms of formation of gaseous hydrocarbons in sedimentary rocks. Chem Geol 1988;71:77–96.
- [58] Vogel TM, Oremland RS, Kvenvolden KA. Low-temperature formation of hydrocarbon gases in San Francisco Bay sediments (California, USA). Chem Geol 1982;37:289–98.
- [59] Bernard BB, Brooks JM, Sackett WM. Natural gas seepage in the Gulf of Mexico. Earth Planet Sci Lett 1976;3:48–54.
- [60] Cline JD, Holmes ML. Submarine seepage of natural gas in Norton Sound, Alaska. Science 1977;198:1149–53.
- [61] Oremland RS. Microbial formation of ethane in anoxic estuarine sediments. Appl Environ Microbiol 1981;42:122–9.
- [62] Kvenvolden KA, Lorenson TD. Methane and other hydrocarbon gases in sediment from the southeastern North American continental margin. In: Paull CK, Matsumoto R, Wallace PJ, Dillon WP, editors. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, vol. 164. 2000. p. 29–36.
- [63] Whelan JK, Blanchette MA, Hunt JM. Volatile C<sub>1</sub>-C<sub>7</sub> organic compounds in an anoxic sediment core from the Pettaquammscutt River (Rhode Island, USA). Org Geochim 1983;5:29–33.
- [64] Ivanov MV, Vainshtein MB, Namsaraev BB, Samarkin VA, Bol'shakov AM. Method for estimation of the biogenic production of hydrocarbon gases. Invention Certificate SU1410663; 1988 [in Russian].
- [65] Vainshtein MB, Namsaraev BB, Samarkin VA, Bolshakov AM. Estimation of microflora producing hydrocarbon gases. Appl Biochem Microbiol (Moscow) 1989;25:707–14 [translated from Prikladnaya Biokhimiya i Mikrobiologiya].
- [66] Waseda A, Didyk BM. Isotope compositions of gases in sediments from the Chile continental margin. In: Lewis SD, Behrmann JH, Musgrave RJ, Cande SC, editors. Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, vol. 141. 1995. p. 307–12.
- [67] Wilkins K. Volatile metabolites from actinomycetes. Chemosphere 1996;32:1427–34.
- [68] Kuzma J, Nemecek-Marshall M, Pollock WH, Fall R. Bacteria produce the volatile hydrocarbon isoprene. Curr Microbiol 1995;30:97–103.
- [69] Nagahama K, Ogawa T, Fujii T, Fukuda H. Classification of ethyleneproducing bacteria in terms of biosynthetic pathways to ethylene. J Ferment Bioeng 1992;73:1–5.
- [70] Weingart H, Völksch B. Ethylene production by *Pseudomonas syringae* pathovars in vitro and in planta. Appl Environ Microbiol 1997;63:156–61.
- [71] Smith AM, Cook RJ. Implications of ethylene production by bacteria for biological balance of soil. Nature 1974;252:703–5.
- [72] Cleemput OV, El-Sebaay AS. Gaseous hydrocarbons in soil. Adv Argon 1985;38:159–81.

- [73] Fukuda H, Fujii T, Ogawa T. Microbial production of C<sub>2</sub>-hydrocarbons, ethane, ethylene, and acetylene. Agric Biol Chem 1984;48:1363–5.
- [74] Ilag L, Curtis RW. Production of ethylene by fungi. Science 1968;159:1357–8.
- [75] Lynch JM. Identification of substrates and isolation of microorganisms responsible for ethylene production in the soil. Nature 1972;240:45–6.
- [76] Considine PJ, Flynn N, Patching JW. Ethylene production by soil microorganisms. Appl Environ Microbiol 1977;33:977–9.
- [77] Primrose SB. Evaluation of the role of methional, 2-keto-4-methylthiobutyric acid and peroxidase in ethylene formation by *Escherichia coli*. J Gen Microbiol 1977;98:519–28.
- [78] Graham JH, Linderman RG. Ethylene production by ectomycorrhizal fungi, *Fusarium oxysporum* f.sp. *pini*, and by aseptically synthesized ectomycorrhizae and *Fusarium*-infected Douglas-fir roots. Can J Microbiol 1980;26:1340–7.
- [79] Cristescu SM, De Martinis D, Hekkert SL, Parker DH, Harren FJM. Ethylene production by *Botrytis cinerea* in vitro and in tomatoes. Appl Environ Microbiol 2002;68:5342–50.
- [80] Abeles FB. Ethylene in plant biology. New York: Academic Press; 1973.
- [81] Fukuda H, Takahashi M, Fujii T, Tazaki M, Takahira O. An NADH:-Fe(III) EDTA oxidoreductase from *Cryptococcus albidus:* an enzyme involved in ethylene production in vivo? FEMS Microbiol Lett 1989;60:107–11.
- [82] Primrose SB. Ethylene-forming bacteria from soil and water. J Gen Microbiol 1976;97:343–6.
- [83] Ince JE, Knowles CJ. Ethylene formation by cell-free extracts of *Escherichia coli*. Arch Microbiol 1986;146:151–8.
- [84] Fukuda H, Kitajima T, Fujii M, Tazaki M, Ogawa T. Purification and some properties of novel ethylene-forming enzyme produced by *Penicillium digitatum*. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1989;59:1–6.
- [85] Nagahama K, Ogawa T, Fujii T, Tazaki M, Tanase S, Morino Y, et al. Purification and properties of ethylene-forming enzyme from *Pseudomo-nas syringae* pv. *phaseolicola* PK2. J Gen Microbiol 1991;137:2281–6.
- [86] Fukuda H, Fujii T, Ogawa T. Microbial production of C<sub>3</sub>- and C<sub>4</sub>-hydrocarbons under aerobic conditions. Agric Biol Chem 1984;48:1679–82.
- [87] Turner EM, Wright M, Ward T, Osborne DJ, Self R. Production of ethylene and other volatiles and changes in cellulase and laccase activities during the life cycle of the cultivated mushroom *Agaricus bisporus*. J Gen Microbiol 1975;91:167–76.
- [88] Fukuda H, Fujii T, Ogawa T. Production of isobutene by *Rhodotorula* yeasts. Agric Biol Chem 1985;49:1541–3.
- [89] Fujii T, Ogawa T, Fukuda H. Isobutene production by *Rhodotorula minuta*. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 1987;25:430–3.
- [90] Fujii T, Ogawa T, Fukuda H. Preparation of a cell-free, isobutene-forming system from *Rhodotorula minuta*. Appl Environ Microbiol 1988;54:583–4.
- [91] Kolattukudy PE. Biosynthesis of paraffins in *Brassica oleraceae*: fatty acid elongation–decarboxylation as a plausible pathway. Phytochemistry 1967;6:963–75.
- [92] Kolattukudy PE. Introduction to natural waxes. In: Kolattukudy PE, editor. Chemistry and biochemistry of natural waxes. Amsterdam: Elsevier; 1976. p. 1–48.
- [93] Naccarato WF, Gilbertson JR, Gelman RA. Effects of different culture media and oxygen upon lipids of *Escherichia coli* K-12. Lipids 1974;9:322–9.
- [94] Han J, Chan HWS, Calvin M. Biosynthesis of alkanes in Nostoc muscorum. J Am Chem Soc 1969;21:5156–9.
- [95] Albro PW, Dittmer JC. Bacterial hydrocarbons: occurrence, structure and metabolism. Lipids 1970;5:320–5.
- [96] Dennis M, Kolattukudy PE. A cobalt-porphyrin enzyme converts a fatty aldehyde to a hydrocarbon and CO. Proc Natl Acad USA 1992;89:5306–10.
- [97] Cheesbrough TM, Kolattukudy PE. Alkane biosynthesis by decarbonylation of aldehydes catalyzed by a particulate preparation from *Pisum sativum*. Proc Natl Acad USA 1984;81:6613–7.
- [98] Wang X, Kolattukudy PE. Solubilization and purification of aldehydegenerating fatty acyl-CoA reductase from green alga *Botryococcus braunii*. FEBS Lett 1995;370:15–8.
- [99] Vioque J, Kolattukudy PE. Resolution and purification of an aldehydegenerating and an alcohol-generating fatty acyl-CoA reductase from pea leaves (*Pisum sativum* L.). Arch Biochem Biophys 1997;340:64–72.

- [100] Lin JW, Chao YF, Weng SF. Nucleotide sequence of the *luxC* gene encoding fatty acid reductase of the *lux* operon from *Photobacterium leiognathi*. Biochem Biophys Res Commun 1993;191:314–8.
- [101] Reiser S, Somerville C. Isolation of mutants of Acinetobacter calcoaceticus deficient in wax ester synthesis and complementation of one mutation with a gene encoding a fatty acyl coenzyme A reductase. J Bacteriol 1997;179:2969–75.
- [102] Lardizabal KD, Metz JG, Sakamoto T, Hutton WC, Pollard MR, Lassner MW. Purification of a jojoba embryo wax synthase, cloning of its cDNA, and production of high levels of wax in seeds of transgenic arabidopsis. Plant Physiol 2000;122:645–55.
- [103] Dennis MW, Kolattukudy PE. Alkane biosynthesis by decarbonylation of aldehyde catalyzed by a microsomal preparation from *Botryococcus braunii*. Arch Biochem Biophys 1991;287:268–75.
- [104] Schneider-Belhaddad F, Kolattukudy PE. Solubilization, partial purification, and characterization of a fatty aldehyde decarbonylase from a higher plant, *Pisum sativum*. Arch Biochem Biophys 2000;377:341–9.
- [105] Savage TJ, Hristova MK, Croteau R. Evidence for an elongation/reductation/C1-elimination pathway in the biosynthesis of *n*-heptane in xylem of jeffrey pine. Plant Physiol 1996;111:1263–9.
- [106] Park M-O. New pathway for long-chain n-alkane synthesis via 1-alcohol in Vibrio furnissii M1. J Bacteriol 2005;187:1426–9.
- [107] Fehler SWG, Light RJ. Biosynthesis of hydrocarbons in Anabaena variabilis. Incorporation of [methyl-<sup>14</sup>C]- and [methyl-<sup>2</sup>H<sub>3</sub>]methionine into 7- and 8-methylheptadecanes. Biochemistry 1970;9:418–22.
- [108] Stearns JC, Glick BR. Transgenic plants with altered ethylene biosynthesis or perception. Biotechnol Adv 2003;21:193–210.
- [109] Zhang Z, Ren J-S, Clifton IJ, Schofield J. Crystal structure and mechanistic implications of 1-aminocyclopropane-1-carboxylic acid oxidase the ethylene-forming enzyme. Chem Biol 2003;11:1383–94.
- [110] Chae HS, Kieber JJ. Eto brute? Role of ACS turnover in regulating ethylene biosynthesis. Trend Plant Sci 2005;10:291–6.
- [111] Amagai A, Maeda Y. The ethylene action in the development of cellular slime molds: an analogy to higher plants. Protoplasma 1992;167:3–4.
- [112] Jia YJ, Kakuta Y, Sugawara M, Igarashi T, Oki N, Kisaki M, et al. Synthesis and degradation of 1-aminocyclopropane-1carboxylic acid by *Penicillium citrinum*. Biosci Biotechnol Biochem 1999;63:542–9.
- [113] Engels WJM, Alting AC, Arntz MTG, Gruppen H, Voragen AGJ, Smit G, et al. Partial purification and characterization of two aminotransferases from *Lactococcus lactis* subsp. *cremoris* B78 involved in the catabolism of methionine and branched-chain amino acids. Intern Dairy J 2000;10:443–52.
- [114] Chague V, Elad Y, Barakat R, Tudzynski P, Sharon A. Ethylene biosynthesis in *Botrytis cinerea*. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 2002;40:143–9.
- [115] Akhtar MJ, Arshad M, Khalid A, Mahmood MH. Substrate-dependent biosynthesis of ethylene by rhizosphere soil fungi and its influence on etiolated pea seedlings. Pedobiologia 2005;49:211–9.
- [116] Pazout J, Pazoutova S. Ethylene is synthesized by vegetative mycelium in surface cultures of *Penicillium cyclopium* Westling. Can J Microbiol 1989;35:384–7.
- [117] Chou TW, Yang SF. The biogenesis of ethylene in *Penicillium digitatum*. Arch Biochem Biophys 1973;157:73–82.
- [118] Fukuda H, Fujii T, Ogawa T. Preparation of a cell-free ethylene-forming system from *Penicillium digitatum*. Agric Biol Chem 1986;50:977–81.
- [119] Hottiger T, Boller T. Ethylene biosynthesis in *Fusarium oxysporum* f. sp. *tulipae* proceeds from glutamate/2-oxoglutarate and requires oxygen and ferrous ions in vivo. Arch Microbiol 1991;157:18–22.
- [120] Nagahama K, Ogawa T, Fujii T, Tazaki M, Goto M, Fukuda H. L-Arginine is essential for the formation in vitro of ethylene by an extract of *Pseudomonas syringae*. J Gen Microbiol 1991;137:1641–6.
- [121] Ishihara K, Matsuoka M, Inoue Y, Tanase S, Ogawa T, Fukuda H. Overexpression and in vitro reconstitution of the ethylene-forming enzyme from *Pseudomonas syringae*. J Ferment Bioeng 1995;79:205–11.
- [122] Sakai M, Ogawa T, Matsuoka M, Fukuda H. Photosynthetic conversion of carbon dioxide to ethylene by the recombinant cyanobacterium *Synechococcus* sp. PCC 7942, which harbors a gene for the ethyleneforming enzyme of *Pseudomonas syringae*. J Ferment Bioeng 1997;84:434–43.

- [123] Eisenreich W, Schwarz M, Cartayrade A, Arigoni D, Zenk MH, Bacher A. The deoxyxylulose phosphate pathway of terpenoid biosynthesis in plants and microorganisms. Chem Biol 1998;5:221–3.
- [124] Wagner WP, Helmig D, Fall R. Isoprene biosynthesis in *Bacillus subtilis* via the methylerythritol phosphate pathway. J Nat Prod 2000;63:37–40.
- [125] Horbach S, Salm H, Welle R. Isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria: two different pathways. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1993;111:135–40.
- [126] Seemann M, Campos N, Rodriguez-Concepcion M, Hoeffler J-F, Grosdemange-Billiard C, Boronat A, et al. Isoprenoid biosynthesis via the methylerythritol phosphate pathway: accumulation of 2-C-methyl-Derythritol 2,4-cyclodiphosphate in a gcpE deficient mutant of Escherichia coli. Tetrahedron Lett 2002;43:775–8.
- [127] Seemann M, Bui BTS, Wolff M, Tritsch D, Campos N, Boronat A, et al. Isoprenoid biosynthesis through the methylerythritol phosphate pathway: the (E)-4-hydroxy-3-methylbut-2-enyl diphosphate synthase (GepE) is a [4Fe-4S] protein. Angew Chem Int Ed 2002;41:4337–9.
- [128] Steinbuchel A. Production of rubber-like polymers by microorganisms. Curr Opin Microbiol 2003;6:261–70.
- [129] Bochar DA, Brown JR, Doolittle WF, Klenk HP, Lam W, Schenk ME. 3-Hydroxy-3-methylglutaryl coenzyme A reductase of *Sulfolobus solfataricus*: DNA sequence, phylogeny, expression in *Escherichia coli* of the *hmgA* gene, and purification and kinetic characterization of the gene product. J Bacteriol 1997;179:3632–8.
- [130] Trutko SM, Dorofeeva LV, Shcherbakova VA, Chuvil'skaya NA, Laurinavichus KS, Binyukov VI, et al. Occurrence of nonmevalonate and mevalonate pathways for isoprenoid biosynthesis in bacteria of different taxonomic groups. Microbiology (Moscow) 2005;74:153–8 [translated from Mikrobiologiya].
- [131] Seto H, Watanabe H, Furihata K. Simultaneous operation of the mevalonate and non-mevalonate pathways in the biosynthesis of isopentenyl diphosphate in *Streptomyces aeriouvifer*. Tetrahedron Lett 1996;37:7979–82.
- [132] Silver GM, Fall R. Characterization of aspen isoprene synthase, an enzyme responsible for leaf isoprene emission to the atmosphere. J Biol Chem 1995;270:13010–6.
- [133] McGarvey DJ, Croteau R. Terpenoid metabolism. Plant Cell 1995;7:1015–26.
- [134] Mooibroek H, Cornish K. Alternative sources of natural rubber. Appl Microbiol Biotechnol 2000;53:355–65.
- [135] Aarts MGM, Keijzer CJ, Stiekema WJ, Pereira A. Molecular characterization of the *CER1* gene of *Arabidopsis* involved in epicuticular wax biosynthesis and pollen fertility. Plant Cell 1995;7:2115–27.
- [136] Rodriguez-Concepcion M, Boronat A. Elucidation of the methylerythritol phospate pathway for isoprenoid biosynthsis in bacteria and plastids. A metabolic milestone achieved through genomics. Plant Physiol 2002;130:1079–89.
- [137] Weete JD. Review article: aliphatic hydrocarbons of the fungi. Phytochemistry 1972;11:1201–5.
- [138] Lynch JM, Harper SHT. Formation of ethylene by a soil fungus. J Gen Microbiol 1974;80:187–95.
- [139] Fiddaman PJ, Rosall S. The production of antifungal volatiles by *Bacillus subtilis*. J Appl Bacteriol 1993;74:119–26.
- [140] Wright SHL, Thompson RJ. *Bacillus* volatiles antagonize cyanobacteria. FEMS Microbiol Lett 1985;30:263–7.
- [141] Wright SHL, Linton CJ, Edwards RA, Drury E. Isoamyl alcohol (3methyl-1-butanol), a volatile anti-cyanobacterial and phytotoxic product of some *Bacillus* spp. Lett Appl Microbiol 1991;13:130–2.
- [142] Michelozzi M, Raschi A, Tognetti R, Tosi L. Eco-ethological analysis of the interaction between isoprene and the behavior of *Collembola*. Pedobiologia 1997;41:210–4.
- [143] Wipat A, Harwood CR. The *Bacillus subtilis* genome sequence: the molecular blueprint of a soil bacterium. FEMS Microbiol Ecol 1999;28:1–9.
- [144] Kleerebezem M, Quadri L, Kuipers O, Vos WD. Quorum sensing by peptide hormones and two-component signal transduction systems in Gram-positive bacteria. Mol Microbiol 1997;24:895–904.
- [145] Hastings JW, Greenberg EP. Quorum sensing: the explanation of a curious phenomenon reveals a common characteristic of bacteria. J Bacteriol 1999;181:2667–8.